3 & Larth

Negotiations Bulletin

A Reporting Service for Environment and Development Negotiations

Vol. 9 No. 87

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD)

Tuesday, 5 May 1998

CBD COP-4 HIGHLIGHTS
MONDAY, 4 MAY, 1998

Thefirst day of the Fourth Meeting of the Conference of the
Parties (COP-4) to the Convention on Biological Diversity began
with opening statements by, inter alia, the Prime Minister of
Slovakia, the outgoing and incoming COP Presidents and the
Executive Secretary of the CBD. Delegates continued to meet in
Plenary throughout the day and heard reports on regional meetings
and statements from conventions, institutions and organizations,
and considered the report and recommendations of the third
meeting of the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Tech-
nological Advice (SBSTTA-3). TheMinisterial Roundtable
convened in the afternoon and addressed eco-tourism and the
private sector’ srolein conservation of biological diversity.

PLENARY

OPENING OF THE MEETING: COP-4 was opened by the
President of COP-3, MariaJuliaAlsogaray (Argentina), at 10:25
am. Vladimir Meciar, Prime Minister of Slovakia, highlighted
Slovakia sfifth anniversary asanindependent country and
expressed appreciation for the honor of hosting COP-4. He noted
Slovakia snational strategy for biodiversity conservation and
sustainabl e devel opment and urged the COP to acknowledge the
world’scommon responsibility to biodiversity.

In her opening speech, MariaJulia Alsogaray stressed imple-
mentation of the CBD through: the ecosystem approach;
addressing freshwater and inland waters; indigenous populations’
rolein plant and water management; adecentralized clearinghouse
mechanism (CHM); and national reports. She outlined the ambi-
tious agenda of COP-4 and hoped that it would take decisions
towards the practical implementation of an ecosystem approach.

Jozef Zlocha, Minister of the Environment of Slovakia, was
chosen asthe President of COP-4. He emphasized that COP-4
must prepare and adopt along-term work programmeand focuson
substantive topicsincluding maritime, coastal and inland water-
ways.

Calestous Juma, Executive Secretary of the CBD, said that the
CBD, with 172 Parties, has the commitment of the international
community and is beginning to influence social, political and
economic behavior at the national level, as evidenced by the large
number of national reportsthat have been received. He said the
national reports also show theimpact of the GEF in raising the
profile of the Convention and hoped thiswould continue with the
replenishment of the GEF fund. He noted that the COP must
address: along-term work programme that builds upon the best
available scientific knowledge; improved cooperation with other
institutions and processes; the continuing review of institutions
under the Convention to ensure their effectiveness; increased
scientific and technical cooperation; and global outreach.

Mauis Iwu presented conclusions and recommendations from
the Tenth Global Biodiversity Forum, which included: financial
strategiesto support national biodiversity plans; workshopsto
help the WTO addressinterlinkages between trade and environ-
ment; measuresto ensure that genetic materialsare obtainedina
legal manner; processesto assist national governmentsimplement
Article 8(j); and establishment of the CHM beyond the pilot phase.

The Conference of Diverse Women for Diversity stressed: that
caution is needed to prevent harm to diversity; their rejection of
the World Bank, the IMF and other collusive agreements; and
their support of the CBD.

Mohamed El-Ashry, CEO of the GEF, noted the recent
US$2.75 hillion replenishment of the GEF trust fund. He high-
lighted the New Delhi Statement from the GEF Assembly held in
April 1998 calling for, inter alia, afocus on country driven
programmes, auser friendly approach to application of incre-
mental costsand greater participation of the private sector.

ORGANIZATIONAL MATTERS: Executive Secretary
Juma presented the provisional agenda, annotations and organiza-
tion of work for adoption (UNEP/CBD/COP/4/1). BRAZIL
proposed adding a sub-item on issues surrounding taxonomy.
ETHIOPIA, supported by MALI and the SEY CHELLES,
proposed including asub-article regarding the CSD’ srelationship
with other international agreements. The agendawith the
proposed additions was adopted. New regional Bureau members
were announced: Philippinesand PapuaNew Guineafor Asia;
Peru and Jamaicafor GRULAC; Nigeriaand Algeriafrom Africa;
and Latviafor CEE.

PRESENTATIONS BY CONVENTIONS: Izgrev Topkov,
Secretary-General of CITES, highlighted recent CITES action on:
adoption of new criteria; streamlining of CITESwork; strength-
ening of enforcement; and cooperation with other bodies,
including the WTO. He stressed cooperation for obtaining
common funding through GEF.

Arnold Muller-Helmbrecht, Executive Secretary of the
Convention on the Conservation of Migratory Species (CMS),
noted similar principles and complementaritiesinthe CMSand
the CBD, but distinguished between state sovereignty over resi-
dent species and the fact that migratory species are acommon
resourcefor all range states. He called for all non-membersto
accedetothe CMS.

Mr. Delmar Blasco, Secretary General of the Ramsar Conven-
tion on Wetlands, reaffirmed his commitment to synergy with all
environmental and sustainabl e resource use conventions, and said
that many countries areincorporating the preservation of wetland
biodiversity into their national programmes. He hoped that the
COPwill endorsethe joint work plan outlined in document UNEP/
CBD/COP/4/Inf.8.

This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Deborah Davenport <ddavenp@unix.cc.emory.edu>, Laura Ivers
<laurai @iisd.org>, LeilaMead <leila@interport.net> and Tiffany Prather <tprather@iisd.org>.Digital Wizardry by Jeff Anderson <janderson@iisd.ca>.The Editor is
Pamela Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org> and the Managing Editor is Langston James "Kimo" Goree VI <kimo@iisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are the
Netherlands Ministry for Development Cooperation, the Government of Canada (through CIDA) and the United States (through USAID). General Support for the Bulletin
during 1998isprovided by the United Kingdom Department for I nternational Devel opment (DFI D), the German Federal Ministry of Environment (BMU), the SwissOffice
for Environment, Forestsand L andscape, the European Community (DG-XI), the Government of Norway, UNDP and the Ministry for the Environment in | celand. Funding
for the French version has been provided by ACCT/IEPF, with support from the French Ministry of Cooperation and the Québec Ministry of the Environment and Wildlife.
The Bulletin can be contacted by e-mail at <enb@iisd.org> and at tel: +1-212-644-0204; fax: +1-212-644-0206. |1SD can be contacted by e-mail at <info@iisd.ca> and at
161 Portage Avenue East, 6th Floor, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3B 0Y 4, Canada. The opinions expressed in the Earth Negotiations Bulletin are those of the authors and do not
necessarily reflect the views of 11SD and other funders. Excerpts from the Earth Negotiations Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publications only and only with
appropriate academic citation. For permission to use thismaterial in commercial publications, contact the Managing Editor. Electronic versions of the Bulletin are sent to
e-mail distribution lists and can be found on the Linkages WWW server at http://www.iisd.callinkages/. The satellite image was taken above New Y ork City (¢)1998 The
Living Earth, Inc. http://livingearth.com. For information on the Earth Negotiations Bulletin, send e-mail to <enb@iisd.org>.




Tuesday, 5 May 1998

Vol. 9 No. 87 Page 2

A Raporting Service fov Ewvironment aud Develupment Negociations

.Earth Negotiations Bulletin

Mr. ArbaDiallo, the Executive Secretary of the Convention to
Combat Desertification (CCD), reaffirmed that emphasis should
be placed on conventions' abilitiesaslegal instrumentsto provide
better information, implementation and eval uation methods, and
appealedto al countriesto ratify the CCD.

INTERNATIONAL INSTITUTIONS: Robert Lentin,
UNDP, detailed how UNDP hasintegrated CBD objectivesintoits
programmes on marine and coastal ecosystems, agricultural biodi-
versity and forests. He also highlighted efforts to mainstream envi-
ronmental concernsinto all UNDP operations and projects, and
stressed UNDP' s support and commitment to assisting developing
countriesto implement the Convention. Patricio Benard,
UNESCO, remarked onthe Memorandum of Cooperation recently
signed between UNESCO and the Secretariat of the CBD. He
highlighted areas of collaboration, including the CHM, biosphere
reserves, UNESCO world cultural and natural heritage site
programmes, and public education and awareness.

The OECD highlighted areas whereit contributesto imple-
mentation of the CBD, including providing information on:
market incentives; benefit sharing; technical information on
biotech products and biosafety; coordination of biodiversity data
bases; and identification of effective donor country effortsto help
devel oping county implementation of the CBD.

David McDowell, IUCN, called for guidance and toolsfor
protected areas and for work on addressing invasive species’ role
in biodiversity loss, including a holistic approach on GMOs and
biosecurity, and for an expert group, including private sector
representatives, to make recommendations on resource generation
for in situ conservation. He opposed any new institutional layers
under the COP for addressing i mplementation i ssues.

REPORTS OF REGIONAL MEETINGS: PERU reported
recommendations from the GRULA C regional meeting,
including: aregional action programme for biodiversity and a
regional information exchange; joint programmesto develop rele-
vant technol ogi es; attention to mountain ecosystems; amandate to
GEF tofacilitate implementation; and strengthening SBSTTA.
MALI’sreport on the African regional meeting highlighted the
need for: elaboration of guidelinesfor national strategies,
increased national capacity; consideration of the action planfor
implementation and GEF facilitation of this process; and synergies
between agencies working on biodiversity.

SLOVENIA, onbehalf of Central and Eastern European (CEE)
region, stressed both the opportunity for countrieswith economies
in transition to create and implement legislation to carry out the
CBD and their need for economic assistance to do so. SLOVENIA
al so reported on the conclusions and recommendations of the CEE
meeting, reaffirming theimportance of: expediting adoption of the
biosaf ety protocol; follow-up regional meetingsto COPsand
SBSTTAS; and theinclusion of costs of participation at COPsin
the core budget. CHINA reported that the Asiagroup: considered
waysto foster regional cooperation and implementation; agreed
that soil erosion and deforestation are major regional threatsto
biodiversity; and stressed the critical role of ODA inimplementing
the CBD. GUATEMALA, for the Central American Commission
for Environment and Development, hoped for more government
support of national commissionson biodiversity. The
MARSHALL ISLANDS, representing the Pacific I slands, high-
lighted obstaclesto implementation and scheduling conflicts with
Asiagroup meetings.

REPORT OF SBSTTA-3: A summary of SBSTTA-3
(UNEP/COP/4/Inf.19) highlighted itswork and recommendations
oninland water ecosystems; indicator development; the elabora-
tion of amulti-year programme for marine and coastal, forest and
agricultural biological diversity; and aprogress report on the pilot
phase of the CHM. He stressed the importance of scientific input

in SBSTTA, the development of technological alternatives,
improved understanding of ecosystems, consensus building and
realistic and viable optionsfor future success.

MEXICO, MALAWI and AUSTRALIA reported on work-
shopsthey hosted in follow-up to SBSTTA-3. The UK, MEXICO,
BRAZIL, SOUTH AFRICA and INDIA stressed the importance
of working closely with the scientific community. COLOMBIA
reiterated the need to maintain the scientific nature of SBSTTA.
NEPAL underlined theimportance of contributionsfrom the GEF
and other donor communitiesfor building scientific capacity.

MINISTERIAL ROUNDTABLE

Ministers, Deputy Ministersand special guests convened on
Monday afternoon for thefirst plenary session of the Ministerial
Roundtable, which was chaired by the President of COP-4. Partici-
pants made general statements on integration of biodiversity
concernsinto sectoral activities, tourism asan examplefor integra-
tion, and the participation of the private sector inimplementing the
objectives of the Convention. A number of participants applauded
the new structure of the ministerial segment asan interactive
dialogueinstead of atwo-day series of statements. Participants
also: focused on several of the major ecosytem programmes
central to the CBD —forests, marine and coastal areas and agricul-
tural biodiversity; called for finalization of abiosafety protocol by
the end of 1998; and stressed the importance of national reports.

The Roundtable divided into two working groups. In the
working group on tourism and biodiversity, chaired by Angela
Merkel, Minister for Environment, Science and Technology,
(Germany), participants agreed that activities on biodiversity and
sustainabl e tourism are needed, supported formul ation of practical
and specific guidelines, and called for inventories of best prac-
tices. They agreed that sustainable tourism in protected areas
should be examined first. In the working group on tourism and the
private sector, chaired by Shri Suresh Praohu, Minister for the
Environment and Forests, (India), del egates noted the importance
of sectoral integration at national levels. They agreed that the
private sector should work under the guidance of and in partner-
ship with governments, and that whiletherol e of the private sector
isimportant, itisin no way asubstitute for therole of devel oped
countriesto providefinancial resourcesto developing countries. A
final statement on the outcome of the Roundtablewill be presented
to the Plenary Tuesday afternoon.

IN THE CORRIDORS:

Official plaudits aside, delegates were not pleased with the
host country’ sflagrant “bio-piracy” in doubling hotel pricesfor
COP-4 participants. A special DSA rate of US$ 260 had to be
established, making Bratislava, usually one of the most econom-
ical countriesin Eastern Europe, one of the world’ s most expen-
sive. On another financial issue, concern was expressed that
budgetary concerns may be used as an excuse to block finalization
of the biosafety protocol in 1998.

THINGS TO LOOK FOR TODAY

Further debate over the taxonomy approach versusthe
ecosystem approach for future SBSTTA work; further discussions
on alternative mechanismsfor addressing issues of policy and
implementation; and continuing controversy over the relationship
between the CBD and non-environmental agreements.

The Plenary will convenefrom 10:00 amto 1:00 pmin Hall C.
TheMinisterial Roundtablewill convenefrom 10:00 amto 1:00
pminHall A. Working Group | will begin discussion of itsagenda
at 3:00 pmin Hall C. Working Group Il will begin meeting at 3:00
pminHall A.



